'COURTIN' CHAIR' FEATURE OF OLD HOUSE THAT NEVER MOVED, WAS IN 4

QOUNTIES by Henry P. Scalf (Reprinted from the Floyd County Times,

January 14, 1954)

In an old house, near the mouth of Breedings Creek in Knott
County, live the five Johnsons--three brothers and two sisters
—-Patrick, John D., Sidney, Elizabeth, and Allie. Four are unmarried.
Patrick, the oldest, is 83. Portraits of their ancestors--Simeon
Johnson, lawyer, teacher, and scholar; Fieldon Johnson, lawyer,
landowner, and Knott's first County Attorney; and Fielding's wife
Sarah ({(nee Dotson)--look down upon them from the house's interior
walls.

Visitors to the Johnson home are shown the family's most prized
possessions and told scmething of their early history. Among the
family's heirlooms are their corded, hand-turned fourposter beds
that were brought to the house by Sarah Johnson. These came from
her first hame, the Mansion House, in Wise, Virginia, after the death
of her father, Jackie Dotson, Wise County's first sheriff. (The
Mansion House was better known as the Dotson Hotel, one of southwest
Virginia's famous hostelries.) At least two of the beds she brought
with her have names: one is called the Apple Bed for an apple is
carved on the end of each post; Another is the Acormn Bed for the
acorns carved on its posts. The bed's coverlets were also brought
from Virginia along with tableware and same pitchers lacquered
in gold that came from her mother Lucinda's Matney family.

Visitors are also shown the wedding plate, a large platter fram
which each Johnson bride or groom ate his or her first dimner. and

the old Kentucky rifle which George Washington Johnson took on deer



hunts, and same of the old clothing worn by early Johnsons, including
Sarah's wedding dress, preserved for nearly three quarters of a
century, and Simeon Jahnson's baby clothes.

Patrick Johnson strikes the fire in the ancient fireplace and
tells visitors of the prominent eastern Kentuckians who once visited
their hame. This was when it was a noted stopping place on the road
between Whitesburg and McPherson (now Hindman). Court officials of
mountain circuits stayed here as, in earlier years, did Revolutionary
War veterans passing through the area seeking land. Tt was here
that the Rev. Simeon Justice and his fellow ministers, William
Salisbury and Electious Thampspon, met and planned the founding of
the earliest Baptist churches in this part of the country.

According to historical records, Thamas and 2Adelphia Carter
Johnson and Thomas's brothers Patrick and William, were the family's
eastern Kentucky progenitors. They came from the Yadkin Valley of
North Carolina through Pound Gap sametime in the first decade of
the nineteenth century. On Jamuary 20, 1806 Patrick toock up fifty
acres on Rockhouse Fork. Seven years later he married Anna Martin
(nee 1794), the daughter of William and Susannah Tudor Martin who
had settled on Right Beaver Creek about the same time. William Martin
may also have come originally from North Carolina though he lived
in Virginia before moving to eastern Kentucky. Patrick and Anna
later set up housekeeping on the Isaac Fork of Right Beaver.

Scmetime before 1810 Thomas and Adelphia built the old Breedings
Creek house. At first it was near the side of the hill in front
of a "steep gut” but the likelihood of sudden freshets convinced

them to move the building 100 yards nearer the creek bank. This
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was in Floyd County then, but the creation of new counties has placed

it successively in Perry, Letcher, and Knott.

Thomas and Adelphia's children were George Washington, William,
Artie, and Fanny, not a large family by pioneer standards. Even
so, Aelphia's life must have been quite a busy one for she was the
only educated woman in a large area. She may have been the local
school teacher, and was often called to write letters for her
neighbors and area churches.

Neighbors were far apart in this early Floyd County section.
Other Carr Fork families (for Breedings Creek is a branch of Carr)
were Thomas and Jane Hammonds Francis who came here from Virginia
in 1816, Crockett and Susan Grigsby Ritchie who had arrived the year
before, and John and Nancy Combs. Into these and other area families
the Johnson children married. George Washington married Sarah Francis;
Artie married Nicholas Smith, son of Richard of Ary. We don't know
who William and Fanny married.

Thomas Johnson died in 1828 and was buried nearby. On October
1, 1834, forty seven year old Adelphia married sixty nine year old
Rev, Simeon Justice in Hazard. He had been a friend of the Johnsons
for years, officiating at their marriages and often staying at the
Breedings Creek haome while he was riding the ministerial circuit,
organizing chuarches., He is known to have helped organize the first
Baptist church in Perry County in 1809, the Indian Bottom charch
on the North Fork the following year, and another at the home of
Stephen Caudill near the mouth of Sandlick on August 13, 1815.

Simeon and Adelphia lived together for twelve years, bat it's

not known how mich of that time was spent in the Breedings Creek



house. which, during that time, was the home of George Washington
and Sarah. We know that Simeon owned property in the present Floyd
County, and lived there for a time since Alexander Iackey of
Prestonsbarg, in support of Simeon's petition for a Revolutionary
War pension, once testified that they had been neighbors for nine
or ten years.

Simeon's pension papers revealed much about his early life amd
war service, He was born in Pittsylvania County, Virginia on June
4, 1765. His family moved to Rutherford County, North Carolina,
bat later moved to the community of Ninety Six in South Carolina
where his mother died. Simeon, his father John, and a brother, also
John, enlisted at Fort Rutledge in 1777. His brother who may have
been slightly older, was appointed fifer and Simeon, then only twelve,
became the company's drummer. Capt. Benjamin Tutt gave the three
enlistees a small amount of bounty money.

Simeon served most of his three year enlistment at Fort Ratledge,
bat in Febraary 1780 he was sent to Augusta, Georgia. In May he
was back at Fort Rutledge. His term of enlistment ended in June
of that year but "times were very squally and it was thought improdent
to discharge the men at the fort." Squally they were, indeed, for
Fort Rutledge was captured by the British and Simeon was made
prisoner, not to be parolled till July.

After his discharge he lived in South Carolina till 1795 when
he moved to Tennessee and lived there for four years. Then he moved
to Buncombe County, North Carolina, and in 1807 came to Floyd County.
After his death on January 16, 1846, Adelphia went to live with George

and Sarah in their Breedings Creek home. TIn 1853 she requested of



Letcher County judge Green Adams a pension for being the widow of
a Revolutiocnary War soldier. She died and was buried on Irishman
Creek.

Another family heirloom, but now in the possession of Jethro
Amburgey of Hindman, was a chair Simeon made that was used by his
descendants as a “courting chair." It testifies to its maker and
original owner's weight, sawme 400 pounds, for it could easily
accommodate two ordinary-sized persons at the same time.

George and Sarah Johnson had eight children: Fieldon (called
Babe), George, lLeslie, Simeon, Sarah, Susan, Thomas, and Adelphia
(named for her grandmother). Susan married George Eversole; Thomas
married Lucy Eversole; and Adelphia married Washington Cambs.

The old Breedings Creek house continued to be a stopping place
for travelers between the county towns of whitesburg, Hazard,
McPherson, and Prestonsburg. Patrick Johnson tells us that when
he was a child he heard his father call to many a traveler "Light
and stay" or "Light and tell us the news."

Fieldon Johnson was a lawyer whose practice was mainly in the
whiteburg coart until the formation of Knott Coanty. Bat scmetimes
he took cases in Wise, Virginia. On one such occasion he met his
wife, Sarah Dotson.

Knott was organized in 1884 from parts of Floyd, Perry, Letcher,
and Breathitt Counties. Fieldon and whitesburg attorney Tam Fitz-
patrick were strong supporters of the new county and assisted the
Letcher representative, Robert Bates, in securing passage of the

enabling legislation.
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McPherson, the local post office, and the community, aptly called
the Forks of the Troublescme, became Hindman when that place was
named the new county's seat., It was then sparsely populated. F.P.
"Chick" Allen ran the local store and near him lived ILewis Hays.
Wagon roads connected the town with neighboring county seats. Fieldon
Johnson, on hand for the county's organization, described the event
as pretty wild. BHeavy drinking, dancing in the roadways, and the
shooting of firearms led to several altercations. Personal affronts
were settled by fisticuffs, and the noise was such that the
camissioners were forced to move to Lewis Hays' hame to camplete
their work.

At the Hays home arguments were frequent and often bitter.
Bolling Hall fram Beaver was appointed to lay off the county into
magisterial districts. Bat he refused to serve since he was being
deprived of his office as Floyd County assessor. Finally, the
wrangling ended and EKnott County was duly organized.

According to the Louisville Commercial of July 8, 1885, '"The
close of the festivities at what became the town of Hindman was a
fitting climax. The local magistrate lay on his back in the sand
in the bottom of the dry creek, and was singing with all his might
until he became too drousy longer to make exertion. {sic) Many others
lay on the grass."

Fieldon became Knott's first county attorney and Lewis Hays
was named its first cowmrt clerk. Fieldon continued to live aon
Breedings Creek, and when his father died in 1904, he formally
occapied the old hoase built by his grandparents. It was his wife

Sarah who preserved for the present generation the home's many



antigques. After Fieldon's death she lived with her memories of her
families——the Matneys, Dotsons, and Johnsons. One son, Simeon,
married Sarah Francis and they are the parents of Willard "Sprout”
Johnson, once a member of the Carr Creek Indians and now that team's
coach.

Almost exactly opposite the month of Breedings Creek is the four
mile long valley of Defeated Creek. According to Patrick Johnson,
it was named back in pioneer days in this fashion. There was an
encampment of whites on Troublesame Creek one winter and Willie Carr
{sometimes called 0l1d Man Carr) and another man strayed on a hunting
trip to that wvalley and built there a rude shelter. That night
Indians attacked their camp and Carr and his companion, along with
their dogs, fled across the ice. Carr tripped over one of the dogs
and fell into the creek. 1Indians were quickly upon him and he was
killed and scalped. Thus was named Defeated Creek. TIt's but a legend
but it may be true. It certainly reflects the collective memory of
the five surviving members of the Johnson family which go back
to the earliest settlement of that part of the coantry. at least
a century and a half ago, and to them it's a priceless memory.

[Editor's note: Even the house is a memory for the lower end
of Breedings Creek is now in the 710 acre Carr PFork Lake that was

completed in 1976.1



HOME THAT SERVED HERE AS (OURTHOUSE IS RAZED by Henry P. Scalf

(Reprinted fram the Floyd County Times, June 3, 1954

On the morning of April 16, 1808 William James Mayo stood by
his haue at the comer of Ford Street and First Avenue in Prestons-
burg and, loocking toward the site of the present (1954) municipal
building, saw the log courthouse go up in flames.

Mayo, who who been a deputy county clerk in his native Patrick
County, Virginia, and would later became the county clerk of BEdgar
County, Illinois, was, at the time of the fire, clerk of both the
Floyd county and circuit courts. All the early Floyd records went
up in flames save a single order book that Mayo probably had at hame.

Mayo most likely built his Prestonsburg hame soon after he arrived
in town with his wife, Elizabeth Hancock Mayo, and at least five
of their children. According to family tradition, while still in
Virginia in 1799, Mayo accepted the invitation of Alexander Lackey
of Floyd Co. to serve as the new county's first clerk. After the
fire the new Mayo home served as temporary quarters of the county
government. The first meeting of the Circuit Court was held here
on April 18, 1808 and present were the Hon. John Graham and Alexander
lackey, associate judges.

Little was accomplished at this first meeting. David Brown was
sworn in as a practicing attorney. The Grand Jury, under its foreman
Abraham Beavers, "retired to consult on the presentments and after

sanetime returned into (sic) court and, having made no presentments,

were discharged.”



The old order book describing the official events occurring in
the Mayo hame, is, as stated in its fly leaf, "a record of orders--
begun April 1808 and ending in October 1818." It inclpdes a lone
entry giving the date of the court house fire. On April 19 the court
met in the Mayo home again and appointed Harry Stratton, Cornelius
McGuire, David Morgan, John Spurlock, and Robert Meade cammissioners
under "the act for the relief of persons who may have been or may
be injured by the destruction of the records of any court." The
commissioners were asked to advertise their dunties for ten days and
then to meet at the Mayo hame and "proceed to reinstate the records
and papers of this court with those of the late Quarterly Superior
court that were in the office of the clerk of this court and were
destroyed by fire on the morning of the Sixteenth Instant."

By today's standards the old Mayo home was pretty rogged. But
like the new county it lasted for a century and a half, Giant poplars
were hewn and laid in a saddle notch. Rocks were handdressed and
the house had a chimmey. At the time of the fire it probably had
only two rooms. Additions were made in the succeeding decades and
it was eventually weatherboarded probably by one of the Ford or Mayo
families that owned it after the Mayos moved oat.

In 1804 Mayoc is known to have bought a farm, now called the Mayo
Farm, on the present (1954) highway south of town. But since the
court was using his town house, it was most likely that he had not
vet built a hame on his new property. But he is known to have moved
scme time before he left for Illineis (in 1825). His son Jacob
succeeded him as Floyd clerk from 1825 to 1835, Same Mayo descendants

still live on the farm.



Until recently Mayo's Prestonsbarg home, ane of the town's oldest
structures, was owned and occupied by Lee P. May and the family of
his son Martin Lee. Buat it is now (1954) being dismantled to make
way for a new home to be built by Russell W. Pelphrey of Prestons-
barg.

Sharing in age and history with the Mayo hame is a nearby house
owned by the Johns Family that served as the courtroam for the local

magistrate Solomon DeRossett.
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HOME THAT SERVED HERE AS COURTHOUSE IS RAZED by Henry P. Scalf

(Reprinted fram the Floyd County Times, June 3, 1954

On the morning of April 16, 1808 William James Mayo stood by
his home at the cormer of Ford Street and First Avenue in Prestons-—
burg and, locking toward the site of the present (1954) municipal
building, saw the log courthouse go up in flames.

Mayo, who who been a deputy county clerk in his native Patrick
County, Virginia, and would later became the county clerk of Edgar
County, Illinois, was, at the time of the fire, clerk of both the
Floyd county and circuit courts. 2ll the early Floyd records went
up in flames save a single order boock that Mayo probably had at hame.

Mayo most likely built his Prestonsbarg home soon after he arrived
in town with his wife, Elizabeth Hancock Mayo, and at least five
of their children. According to family tradition, while still in
Virginia in 1799, Mayo accepted the invitation of Alexander Lackey
of Floyd Co. to serve as the new county's first clerk. After the
fire the new Mayc home served as temporary quarters of the county
govermment., The first meeting of the Circuit Court was held here
on April 18, 1808 and present were the Hon. John Graham and Alexander
Iackey, associate judges.

Little was accomplished at this first meeting. David Brown was
sworn in as a practicing attorney. The Grand Jury, under its foreman
Abraham Beavers, ''retired to consult on the presentments and after
sametime returned into (sic) coart and, having made no presentments,

were discharged.”
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Until recently Mayo's Prestonsbuarg hame, one of the town's oldest
structures, was owned and occupied by Lee P. May and the family of
his son Martin Lee. Bat it is now (1954) being dismantled to make
way for a new home to be built by Russell W. Pelphrey of Prestons-
barg.

Sharing in age and history with the Mayo hame is a nearby  house
owned by the Johns Family that served as the courtroam for the local

magistrate Solamon DeRossett.
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Tandy and Betsy's children were Emma, who married John Powell;
Mary, who married Harvey Childress; Thomas, who married Ann Wedding-
ton; and Jane, who married Anthony Hatcher.

The two story Layne home, long unoccupied, was made of hand-
planed poplar lumber of the finest guality. A small cramped stairway
goes up fram the front room to two large upstairs roms. A leanto
kitchen and dining room, now falling down, were built by Tandy on
the west side. lLarge chimneys of crude hand-carved native stone stand
at each end of the house. Tandy's nearby slave house is long gone.

James Shannon Layne operated a store across the river from his
son's hame, near the present (1954) residence of James H. Loar, a
Layne descendant.

In 1841 three of Tandy's brothers--William Henry, Sam George,
and John Lewis--died of typhoid. Sam and John's taombstones lay on
the grass near loar's garden. Mr. Loar recalls the old story of
how a family difference prevented the erection of the stones after
they were bought. Tandy and Betsy and Tandy's parents are buried
on the hill overlooking the community from the railroad side.

Betsy sﬁwived Tandy's death by many years, long enough to be
vaguely remembered by today's oldtimers. For most of that time she
lived alone. Their farm was bought by Dr. S.M. Ferguson in 1876 and
tenants, (including Richard P. Robinson) lived in the old house until
recently.

Dr. Ferguson, who lived near the Pike County line {at the present
Boldman), died in 1904. His heirs sold the Layne farm to the Big
Mud Coal Company owned by John C.C. Mayo, Walter S. Harkins, and

others. Shortly thereafter, the Betsy Layne rail station was estab-






OLD HOME OF BETSY LAYNE STANDS, LONG UNTENANTED by Henry P. Scalf

(Reprinted from the Floyd County Times, June 10, 1954)

Residents of Betsy Layne vaguely recall that their post office,
established scme fifty years ago, was named for an old lady. But
none remember that she was Elizabeth Johns Layne, nor that she and
her hushand, Tandy Middleton Layne, had acquired a large farm at
the site of the present Justell post office (on the west side of
the Big Sandy River). And they don't know that sometime after the
Laynes married on April 21, 1831, they built a log house that, by
1954, was still standing on their farm.

Tandy and Elizabeth were the children of pioneers. Tandy was
the son of James Stratton and Caty (Hager) Layne. Elizabeth (called
Betsy) was a daughter of Thomas and Nancy (Layne) Johns. Nancy and
James Shannon were first cousins. The elder Iaynes and Johns had
cane to Floyd County from Amherst County, Virginia a decade before
Tandy and Betsy's birth. Nancy rode horseback to Kentucky with a
two year old child lying in her arms.

Tandy and Betsy's 776 dcre farm on the Layne family estate was
large compared to today's Floyd County farmsteads. The Layne farm
is now (1954) but 640 acres, owned by Claibourne Bailey. In its
125 year history, this farm had only two voluntary title transfers,
a possible record for the fewest such property transfers in Floyd
County. The first was in 1918 when a railrcad right-of-way was secured
to the new Pike-Floyd Coal Company mine, and the second was when

Bailey sold same land on the Betsy Layne Branch.



Tandy and Betsy's children were Emma, who married Jchn Powell;
Mary, who married Harvey Childress; Thomas, who married Ann Wedding-
ton; and Jane, who married Anthony Hatcher.

The two story Layne hame, 1long unoccupied, was made of hand-
planed poplar lumber of the finest quality. A small cramped stairway
goes up from the front roam to two large upstairs roms. A leanto
kitchen and dining roam, now falling down, were built by Tandy on
the west side. Large chimneys of crude hand-carved native stone stand
at each end of the house. Tandy's nearby slave house is long gone.

James Shamnon Layne operated a store across the river from his
son's home, near the present (1954) residence of James H. ILoar, a
Layne descendant.

In 1841 three of Tandy's brothers--William Henry, Sam George,
and John Lewis--died of typhoid. Sam and John's tambstones lay on
the grass near ILoar's garden. Mr. Loar recalls the old story of
how a family difference prevented the erection of the stones after
they were bought. Tandy and Betsy and Tandy's parents are bouried
on the hill overlooking the cammunity from the railroad side.

Betsy survived Tandy's death by many years, long enough to be
vaguely remembered by today's oldtimers. For most of that time she
lived alone. Their farm was bought by Dr. S.M. Ferguson in 1876 and
tenants, (including Richard P. Robinson) lived in the old house until
recently.

Dr. Ferguson, who lived near the Pike County line (at the present
Boldman), died in 1904. His heirs sold the layne farm to the Big
Mud Coal Campany owned by John C.C. Mayo, Walter S. Harkins, and

others. Shortly thereafter, the Betsy layne rail station was estab-



lished. The coal company was soon sold to the Olive Hill Brick Company
who planned to ship the local coal to its Carter County plant.

The local post office was opened on the east side of the river
on May 1, 1908 and named for the old lady local people remembered
fram years before. But since October 1922 the office at the site
of the old Iayne farm on the west side of the river has been
Justell, a name coined from Justice and Elliott, the operators of
a nearby mine. An earlier post office serving the present Betsy Layne
post office site was Laynesville, named for James Shannon.

The local railway station remains Betsy Layne and the old Layne
house still stands, recalling that once there lived an old lady wham
everyone called Betsy Layne.

[Editor's note: the Layne house no longer stands, having collapsed

several years after this colum was published. ]



























I "One son, Lauehie Quilmrm] .

Thornshary, wos cdreited gt Totlis-
ilbe Lo o profession of micdicine,
i the smme elass wilh Dr, Walk
Slumbe, of this eounty. D Thorns-
bury mnrrwed [ewrl Seott, daushiter
of  Alurtin and Jane Blankenship
Scoll, of Johms Creck. They had one
S011.

Puarl Scott Thorasbury died in
1011, is Dburied nt Gulnnre, Pike
2ounty. Dr. Thornsbury went back
Lo his native Levisa IPork, began
to practice medicine in that scetion.
Eic was shot and killed in 1915 in an
affray, arowing out of an clection
difttienity. it was saicl

D, Thornsbhury and s father,
Licut. Joumes M., Tlhiormshusy, are
buried on the Levisa Fork of the
Big Sundy near Card Creek,

{Tiwe speliing of the family name
used here is that used today by
most of the descendanls of Lisut.
Jarmes 3. Thornbury. Some, hows-
ever, spell it Thonsuerry, and Civil
War records use this varviation),
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11, Kayeltesvilte, Arkansas.

as the son of Bracken andj

1o Preslon Lewis”

.. Martin is mnierested aiso in
fall family histery. Corvdetl
n, Hindman, a Hall descen-
says lhat Lyman llail, a
+ of tlie Dectaration ol In-
wlenee, was an ancestor of a
1y of the Eastern Kenlucky
family. Mrs. Martin also re-
s that persuns inlercsled in

{a}]l famnily bistory to write
ripages n document

| ing titles for clients never bother to

i | ginia grant, but Marshall Davidson,
[ Prestonsburg attorney, has jost comi-

:|of Virginla, as was the rest of Ken-

(F Pleolng counties until it was form-

| Kenlueky beeame a slale in 1792
“lall Virginin greanls west of the Big

"1 Copitol and

| virginia Grants for land in Ken-

trace the ehaln of ownership af real
property back o the original Vir-

pleted a chronological chain of title
for n client here thpt goes back
through 159 years to the Graham
survey. It contains much Big SBandy
history and refers to owners of
Preslonsburg real eslate who flgured
prominently in the area’s history.

The nbstrect i in its first Tew
of hlistorical
wenlih, and beeausc of ils conbtrl-
bution to the history of Prestons-
burg il is heavily cxcerpled here
with annotations.

“Floyd county was originaliy part
of a county of the Commonwealth

tucky uniil Kentucky became o
separate slate in 1792 at which time
the present Floyd county was a part
of the coonty of Mason, later be-
coming part of Montgoniery nnd

ed into Floyd county in 1800. Ac-
cording to W. R. Jillson's 'Land
Grants  in Kentucky, . . . when

Sandy were placed with 1lhie Rezis-1
ler of the Land Office in the State
the Oid Kentucky
Grants began in 1793, Grants west
of the Big Bandy would jinclude

tucky, as the Big Sandy referred to
is the Tug Fork, forming the Ken-
tucky-V¥irginia border.

{(The designalion of the “mein
|{bronch of Lhe Big Bandy” as the
border between Kentucky and Vir-
ginin was the sobjecl of moch con-
troversy between the two states and
was resloved by eommissioners in
1799 who met at the forks whers
Louisa now stands and under the
influence of too much strong drink
s mistakenly declared the rising Tug
i Fork was the larger branch and thus
the boundiry lne. It has beety ob-
served hat If the commissloners
had remained sober the lown of
Prestonshurg would probably be in
West Virginia today.)
. “0One vl Whese Virginin pranis, foy
T 109,000 acres, was issued on or about
.March 9, 1787 Lo Johny Preston and
ia portion of this 100,000-acre gront,
|a. 2000-acre patent, was surveyed
»foy hilm: by John Graham on June
127, 1797, which suivey and patent
was duly entered in Book 18, nn.
89-92 of the records of registery of
1ihe land office at the Hentucky
State Capilol, tow in the oiffice of
the Secretary of ‘State, under Land
Office Treasury Warrants Nos, 18,

078 and 19,079, entered Mairch 9,

S e e ——— e e S =
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meade John Groham rode horseback
to Frankfort and registered the sur-
vey.}

“This survey was conlested in a
suit by Michael Montgomery and
Robert Young against John Gra-
ham, {iled July 11, 1812; suit was
dismissed 11 favor of Graham on
July 7, 1813. On the same date, viz:
July 7, 1813, this same land, ns sur-
veyed, was the subject of o Ken-
fucky Land Grant by Governor
Isagc Sheiby to Jolin Graham, as
1s recorded in Book 18, pp. 89-92;
granled July 4, 1813, recorded July
9, 1813,

“This 2,000-acre survey or patent
included the present ' site of Pres-
tonshurg and adjacent” territory.’”

“IL is quite possible that this Z,-
(00-pacre survey or patent embrﬁc_ad
& nomber of smallcr patents or sur-
veys by the same parlies thot were
senior to this 2000-acre survey, in-
cluding the survey of the town of
Prestonshurg itself. It appeors, as
was Llypicat, that only Llhe Lotiom
laud alonz the streany was surveyed
and thal this 2.000-acre palent cm-
braeced the Levisa Fork of the Big
Sandy River with {wo slrips of
land gn eitlicr side, exlending from
the wuter's cdze to the ridgecrest,
heginning ol a point on the rlver
below thie moulll ol May's Branch
and extending up the river to o
poinl above the ouith of Cow
Creek. A stake at the Forks of
May’s Branch marks a point in the
‘back line’ of the 2,000 acre sufvey
or patent nud also marks the lbwer
corner of the live-acre Lot No, 1l
of ihe oviginal survey of the Lown
of Prestonsburg. Judging {rom the
language of the original survey and
the topogrophy of the ground, this
marked beeceh <(JG) probalbly stood
ot the lower end of the large bot-
tom below May's Branch and this
efitira botimin was Iuclinded' in and
matrked the beginbing of the 2,000-
acre patent. The orlginal survey af
ihe town of Preslonsburg was mnde
Moy 13, 19797 under Col! John Pres-
ton's Grant by Johin Qralwmm, 0.
8. M. C., {Deputy Survcyor, Mason
counly, ILy.) for ithe Adyeuluwrers
under Major Andréw Hood, Mat-
thins Harmpan, and Solomon Strat-
lon, The originel plal and olher
records having heeir burned in a
courthouse fire, it wns ordered at
the Sept. 18310, termn of the Floyd
County Court that o copy of Lhis
plat e recorded nnd il was so re-
corded by Willlam J Mayo, clerk ol
Lhat courl in Scptember, 1810 in
Deed Book A, pape BU.

“Johmy Graham sold wmosl of Lhe
upper portion of the town of Pres-

tonsburg Lo John  Spurlock on

;

; cast: of

exlensively I Easiernn bentucky to
preach the Gospel, He was proml-
nent in the affairs of edrly Floyd
and served as Justice of the Peace,
heing elected in 1819, He was one
of the commissioners designated by
stntute 1o help locnle the county
seat of Jolinson county in 18443,
“an adjoining lract of 50 acres
was later acquired by the same
Mason Witlianis, as assignee of John
Yost by n survey of May 18, 1810,
under Land OHice Warrant No.
2131 o5 is recorded in Floyd county
Survey DBook A, page 314, . . .
“The abstract notes that this Yost
trnct begins “al n hLickory on the
QGraveyard Branch in the line of
Johu Preston's 2,000 acre survey,”
end I5 deslgnated in the chaln of
title as Tract B.)
.“On October 25, 1834, Tract A of
98 acres was conveyed by Mason
Williams and hls wife Barah fo
Willlam M. Smith, as recorded in
Deed Book C, page 461, .and later,
November 10, 1853, 'the 50-acre
Tract B was conveyed by Mason
Williams (alone), still of Morgan
county, lo Willlmn M. Bmith.”
‘T'he land aficr that was convey-
ed to James M, Smith and In 1865
by Smith to Jerome B. Burrows, of
Ashiabitla county, Qhio, for $5,000.
The two Lracts beeame known as
lhe Smilhs, Burrows or Garfleld
tract, and were conveyed by Jerpme
nnd Evn C. Burrows to Robert S.
Friend, March 17, 1800. Friend sold
te tlie Garfield Land and Improve-
ment Company, May 9, 1890, re-
serving enly a 50-foot square in the
Smith cemetéry for his family, The
considerntion was $140,000, poid for
by 1,400 shores of stock in the
grantee corporntion.

The Garfield Land and Improve-'

ment’ Company's Artlcles of Incor-
paration were dated March 24, 1890,
and Hsted ns incorporators were P.
D. Harmigon, Isaae Tichiond, R.
&, Friend, T. H: Baidridge, 5. T.
Nickels, Walter S. Harkins, John
C. C. Mayo, and A. H. Stawart. It
wns caplalized at $280.000 in shares
of $100 exch. Ils stated business was
the buying wnd selling of land.
The compnuy failed to pay taxes
as Jerpme Burrows had also [all-
¢d for several'years, and tWe sher-
iff was directed to sell the property.
Sheriff M. T. Allen, sold 30" acres
to B. C. Mny nnd: after tiat the
land passed through' the hands of
many olher granteas. Moy and his
wife, Aunie L. May. sold to A 'J.
Davidson in 1895, Davidson sued the
Gorflel<l Land and Improvement

.‘I '
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Company for possession of the land, - -

and after ltigation the land was
sold Lo salisly the tax lien. F. A,
Hopkins buughit 1hic land at n Com-
missioner's sulc in 1889, The land,
soon partltioned, ‘was subsequently
owned by divers parlies, omong
whomy was W. S, Harkins.

* Altorney Duvidson describes. for
purposes of clarlfication of Tract
A and B another. tragt of 20 acres
the other tracis, On Oct. 6,
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FIRE, ENGULFING VALLEY'S FOREST, FOUGHT BY UNITED QCMMUNITY by Henry

P. Scalf (Reprinted from the Floyd County Times, November 8, 1956)

The first evidence of the big fire came one evening in late
October when most of the farmers and loggers of the Buffalo, Mare,
and Caney Creek watersheds were planning to retire for the night.
Samecone spotted a faint glow on the Buffalo ridge, emanating fram
the head of Clark Branch.

It had been dry for weeks. The creek beds were as parched as
the much traveled roads. To drop a match or even to build a fire
to boil water for the family wash was to risk a conflagration. A
sudden puff of wind could whip up many small fires in the grass,
in fence commers, or at the edges of the woods. Wind-borne sparks
could ignite a blaze that would soon engnlf fields and fences for
miles.

The residents of the area who gazed at the incipient glow over
the Buffalo Creek ridges in late 1914 gave little thought to either
timber or game preservation. They were mainly concerned with fences
encircling the hill pastures. Those long zig-zag lines of split rails
kept their sheep from rumning wild and stray animals from besetting
their crops.

Farmers went to bed that night worrying about the next day,
wondering if the wind wgould gain strength, and calculating how long
it woald be before their fences would be endangered. Many got up
in the night, stared at the demarcationm between ridge and sky, saw
that the glow was a bit higher and brighter. Few slept well that
night.

Daylight came and the men went to their usual tasks, except for






their work and locked and listened. They couald see a deep gray billow
of smoke rising and mushrooming below them. There were faint noises
fram crackling wood as it buarned, all coming up under them fram
far down the mountainside. "Great God!" a man cried out, "They've
raked a ring around their fences and are firing above it. They'll
burn us up!"

The slow moving action of a moment before became a fierce effort
now as each man dug in at his work. The ring moved along and men,
campleting tasks behind, ran ahead to other tasks. Suddenly, a billow
of smoke swept across the ridge, and in a moment there was heard
the rush of a mighty fire that created a propelling wind as it
expanded and heated the air. No one spoke and no one looked up.
They raked and chopped and dug. The ring was moving faster now and
in a few minutes they were far enough east of the onrushing fire
to stop. When they did there was a great wall of red flame that swept
up and died on the ridge.

Landowners fram farther up Baffalo Creek now joined the Burchett
crew, and some of the latter went hame to eat and bring back food
and water to the others. A man went down to the rvad, walked up the
creek, seeking help and begging the farmers to rake a ring around
their hill fences. Twilight came, and a man reappeared on the mountain
with water and food. Sitting down on the ridge, leaning against giant
trees, they ate., But they had no water to wash so many rubbed
smoke-filled red eyes with their grimy hands.

Relief came after dark. News had spread in the bottam that the
men fram Clark Branch had raked a ring up the ridge to their section.

Bob, Jim, John, and Beb Scalf, Golden Adkins, Ireland Thampson,
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this issue, each expressing his opinion in desultory fashion. Nothing
had been decided when they saw a lantern bobbing up and down along
the ridge several hundred yards away.

A half hour later the lantern bearer came into view followed
by three Mare Creek residents. They joined in the argument, begging
for help to take the ring further vwp Buffalo. The Mare Creek land-
owners won. No matter how tired a man might be he couldn't resist
an appeal to help save a lot of fence.

It was past midnight when they stopped again. Bob Scalf, who
was to die a few years later in an Argonne wheat field, was sent
to Mare Creek for water and food. The crew, now numbering at least
a dozen men, fell down on beds of leaves just under the summit of
Bedstead Mountain. Nearby was the evergreen—crested top of Pine Knob.

The ring stretched out west from where the men sat, snaked along
the ridge crest for several miles. They argued over how long it was.
Same said it was five miles. BAnother argued that they had raked,
side rings and all, a protective path for eight hours. Finally,
they quieted down and a few fell asleep. All awaited food and water.

Soon there was perfect silence as the little cluster of fire-
fighters lay on the leaves. How long they lay there, with every muscle
and nerve weary from the effort, no one could recall. A man yelled
and they rose to their feet, groggy and leaning on their tools. All
eyes turned to stare at a sudden shower of wind-borne sparks coming
fram the other side of Buffalo.

Thousands of sparks sank into the deep canyon-like valley but
others were carried almost to the feet of the watchers. It was now

a question of time till the whole mountain where they were standing







Bob and the boys found the fire fighters curled up in grotesque
positions asleep in the leaves. All grumbled when they wWwesy were
awakened. They ate lustily, drank loudly from the jugs. The two
boys scampered about on the oater edge of the group, chasing each
other in the leaves. One, hearing an animal squeal, found a chipmnk
seared and dying.

"You know, I think it's going to rain," said Bob, pointing at
the sky.

"No such luck," somecne answered.

They all stared through the trees and spotted rain clouds ccaming
fram the west.

" and his voice rose

"West winds bring rain," a man said. 'Yep,
a bit, "It's going to rain.”

The clouds thickened and from the outer ring a man observed
guietly: "This is one that ain't going around."

Bob Scalf sat propped against a tree, Humning a tune in his deep
bass.

"Sing us a song, Bob," a Buffalo neighbor urged. Others added to

the request.

Bob fumbled slowly in his pocket, bringing out a tuning fork.
He always carried it with him when he sang at parties and stag
gatherings. He tapped the fork against a stone, listening to the
vibrations. "what are yoa going to sing, Bob?" a man asked. There
was no reply. The old singing master was listening to his fork.

Slowly, the deep bass notes of "Rock of Ages" wafted on the
mountain. Many joined in a mament; others hummed the ancient tune

for all knew the hymn.
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The song ended, and no one spoke until the magic of the old
hymn faded.

"Yon know what I think?"” one said. "I think we are going to
get wet."

They picked up their tools and prepared to leave. Bob and the
two boys retrieved their buckets and jugs. The first rain drops
pelted the green leaves. "You know," a man said, proudly, "nary a
farmer lost a rail of fence."

"Not a rail has burned," another agreed. As he spoke, a pheasant
rushed across the bench and disappeared in the darkness. 'You know,
though, somehow I think these big fires make the hunting bad."

There was a crash on the moantain and a billow of smoke and sparks
as a tree fell. "I think, too, there's an awful lot of timber wasted,"
he added.

"0iit worrying about the timber," he was told. '"There'll be timber
when we ain't around. Bat I'm like you about the huntin.' There
just ain't much game for a long time after a big woods fire."

The men were preparing to leave now. Same were going back along
the flat to take the ridge home, while others would move cautiously

in the pale light down the steep slope of Bedstead Mountain.
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COLORFUL , HISTORY AND LEGEND ABOUND IN BIG SANDY VALLEY by Henry

P. Scalf (Reprinted fram the Floyd County Times, December 20, 1956)

The people of the Big Sandy area may be more conscious of their
early history than are people of any other section of Appalachia.

Their longtime isolation was broken half a century ago by the
intrusion of the railroad. Their emergence into the twentieth centiiry
was but a step, psychologically, fraom the log cabin era when the
settlers fought Indians and tried to tame the primitive wildermess.

Oldtimers of the Jcohns Creek area of Pike and Floyd Counties
often refer to William Robert Ieslie as "the First Man." It was
Daniel Boone, they declare, who brought Ieslie to Johns Creek ard
showed him the wide bottams.

Leslie climbed a high ridge at the motth of Big Broshy Creek
and, looking over the pristine valley, exclaimed: "Great God, what
a place to live!" The Ieslie settlement is history, bmt legends like
those aboat the First Man, have been perpetuated in this area for
years.

On a day when the sun shines and visibility has no ceiling save
the blue can opy of the sky, you can climb Old Bedstead, a 1,700
foot mountain in eastern Floyd County, and view a large secticn of
the Big Sandy Valley. Yoa know that north is Johns Creek with its
branches--Buffalo, Caney, Big Brushy and Bent. South is the Big Sandy
River, with the high knobs of Sugar Camp and Brandy Keg jutting up
like rugged sentinels.

Each place name suggests a legend. Bedstead Mountain received

its name when Tandy R. Stratton, having need of another bed, took



valley,
an axe and went up a little, At the foot of the hill that bears this

name, he cut down a giant poplar, and with deft carpenter strokes
he fashioned himself a bed. He slept on it for a decade, and after
he died his children, recalling how it was made, preserved it in
an attic.

The Bedstead Branch flows into Mare Creek, a tributary of the
Big Sandy. The Strattons settled Mare Creek and, in 1821, when the
divising line between Pike and Floyd Counties was run, the family
found itself in Pike. "I don't like to do business in Piketon," the
clan head said, and began a fight to get back in mother Floyd. He
made it twenty four years later when the General Assembly passed
a special act for his benefit.

Bat his land didn't touch Floyd County anywhere, and although
by legislative act he was no longer in Pike County, he was still
surrounded by it. Oldtimer: :(;;iled the 1,000 acre tract "Little Floyd
County." In between Floyd and Little Floyd was a quarter mile stretch
claimed by both counties. A confused judge once named it "No Man's
Land.” Scarcely a year goes by that Stratton descendants on their
farm don't fight, legally or otherwise, to stay in Floyd County.

Buffalo Gap is a low pass in the ridge between Little Floyd and
the headwaters of Buffalo Creek. Streams with such picturesque names
as Big Rough, Paw Paw, Twin Branch, and White Oak Creek head in this
wooded country. In the mountainside near the Broad Hollow are caves
--dark holes in the rocks leading to nobody knows where. One was
visited by-n:ﬁev. Robert Adams when he was a boy nearly a century ago.
He pushed aside leaves and animal bones as he wiggled through the

tight dark tunnels and emerged several hundred feet downstream.



No one has tried that since.

The Big Sandy is a great place to live, as the Great Man said,
and especially so if you like to hear the old legends about it.
Some of these may be trivial amd of interest to none but the local
residents, But others may intrigue everyone in the region,

There was the Wolf Creek posse which, in 1847, went after Bill
Pruitt ard killed him on the headwaters of Tug River.

Abner James was sentenced to hang. His brother-in-law Billy McCoy
rode to Frankfort and begged Gov., William Owsley to pardon the
condemned man. He secured the pardon and hurriedly rode back to Big
Sandy, arriving the night before the day set for the execution.
That was history.

Stories told around many a fireside embellished the accomnt of
Billy McCoy's ride fram Frankfort. He is said to have killed four
horses in a wild breakneck ride, arriving in Louisa on the day of
the execution. He plunged through a large crowd toward the moving
wagon in which 23bner James rode, sitting on a rpbde coffin. McCoy
passed the governor's pardon to the sheriff. Legend insists that
James then stood up, amd flapping his arms, crowed like a cock:
"The jury said I'd hang; the governor says I won't.” Just where
history ends amd legend begins no one can say, ard most don't care.
History has ruined many a good story.

Jenny Wiley's capture by the Indians in 1789 in Ab's Vvalley,
Virginia, is history and legend. Historians tell of her capture
and the death of five of her children and a brother at the hands
of a mongrel band led by Black Wolf, the Shawnee, and of her escape

to Harmon's Station, the first settlement in eastern Kentucky, midway



between the present Prestonsburg and Paintsville. The Harmons escorted
Mrs. Wiley back to Virginia, but she and her husband, Thomas,
returned to the Big Sandy, becoming two of Johnson County's first
settlers.

Over the years she told and retold the story of her captivity
and rescue to her children and neighbors. The legend grew after
her death. The Apxiers, founders of Blockhouse Bottom, at East Point,
often related the story of how Mrs. Wiley was led on the escape
path by a bird flying along the trail. Members of the Borders family,
nieces and nephews of Mrs. Wiley, added to the legends. They would
tell of how, Running wildly throngh the forest, she wore out her
mocassins. Stumbling along on frozen ground, her feet cnt and
bleeding, she found the still warm carcasses of a buffalo her pursuers
had killed. She parted the warm flesh and stood on it until her pain
went away. These are legends, unverifiable by the historians, but
told and retold on the Big Sandy.

Stories like the Wiley captivity had a tremendous impact on the
consciocusness of pioneer families. Historic and legendary accounts
of her experience have become so confusing that historians have
accepted, with little credit, what is said to be known about her.
In the remote sections of the Big Sandy mothers still sing their
babies to sleep with the Jenny Wiley lullaby., 2and when they get
older and start to stray from their hames children hear their mothers
call in warning '"Jenny Wiley, Jenny Wiley”, and they hurriedly return
to their hames.

As cne travels up the Big Sandy, passes Pikeville, turnms up Shelby

Creek, and crosses over onto the headwaters of Elkhorn, he comes

—



/'? PR '9(6‘

- r.-
to the foot of Pound Mountain., Here is Pound Gap throupgh which passed

the first settlers of the Big Sandy Valley. A great highway is being
finished through this historic pass. But not long ago the road was
only a wagon trail, rocky and beaten under by at least a century
of traffic. Col. James A. Garfield, the Union commander in that area,
fought a battle there and routed the surprised Confederates.

Picket Rock stands like a sentinel a few hundred yards from the
gap. So named because Confederate cammanders posted men there to
watch down the Sandy road, it is better known as the site of
Dr. M.B. Taylor's massacre of the Ira Mullins family. In 1892 Taylor,
the Red Fox of "The Trail of the Ionesome Pine", and two associates,
the Fleming brothers, hid in a jumble of rocks and fatally shot
five of that family as they approached the gap. Only Jane Muallins
and Ira's fourteen year old son escaped. For a while Dr, Taylor
hid in the woods of Letcher, Pike, and Wise Counties while his two
associates fled to West Virginia.

The authorities sent for Ed Hall, a Floyd County native, whaom
everyone called "The Mountain Man Hunter." When outlaws defied
other peace officers, Ed Hall wouald be sent to bring them in. He
found Dr. Taylor in a fruit tree box at the Bluefield, W.Va. express
office where his son had shipped him from Norton, Virginia. [Editor's
note: Actually Dr. Taylor was fourd in a freight car in the Bluefield
railyards where he was waiting to hop another freight for Florida.]
Taylor died on the scaffold but Ed Hall was sick then and did not
see him die, ILater Hall and two others walked six days into West
Virginia to get the Fleming brothers. After killing Cal Fleming,

they brought his brother, Heenon, back for trial.



Dr. Taylor, murderer and mystic, was an educated man who mixed
science and sorcery to cure his moantain patients. He was a deputy
United States marshal for a few years and rode the woodland trails
under the towering Cumberland cliffs with his winchester and a long
telescope. He was expert at tracking his adversaries as well as
avoiding them. It is said that, on occasion, he would put his shoes
on backwards to elude pursuers. He preached a long sermon to the
crowd that had come to see him hang, saying that on the third day
he would rise from his grave. Nobody admitted believing him, but
just in case they left a lighted lantern on his grave far a week.

John Wright, known as Devil Judd Tolliver in John Fox's "Trail
of the Lonesame Pine”, lived in a big two-story log house on Elkhorn
Creek, near the present Jenkins. He was host to travelers through
that area who cared to accept his hospitality. A friend of Bad Talt
Hall, the Beaver Creek ocutlaw, he had a man take Talt's body fram
the scaffold in Wise and return it to Kentucky for burial. Wright
and Talt had feuded with "0ld" Clabe Jones, the Floyd and Knott County
badman. Wright and Jones, with their respective henchmen, would travel
back and forth over the headwaters of Beaver, Elkhorn, and Troublecme
Creeks. Both were duly deputized peace officers and fought their
feud under the authority of the law with warrants for each other's
arrest. But the warrants issued by different counties were never
served,

The Civil War added to the legends of the Big Sandy. The battle
of Ivy Mountain was fought in 1861. "Bull" Nelson, Union leader,
drove the Confederates under Col. A.J. May back toward Virginia.

It was a rebel debacle, but southern sympathizers would not have



it so. They composed a song, singing it in defiance of history:
"You ocught to have heard them Yankees' shinbones
rattle
When at the Ivy Narrows they were stricken with
horrors."

The song was written by a mountain balladist long after the fight
when few Big Sandians would admit the Confederates had lost the
battle. Bat Anthony Hatcher and five of his fellow rebels knew it
then. Hatcher had a thigh bone broken by a "Blue Brute" bullet, and
his friends quickly put him on a horse and fled up Ivy Creek.
Entering Mare Creek through the Sugar Camp Gap, they dropped the
wounded man off at a Union home where a pre-war friendship brought
care and medical attention. The other soldiers, one seriously wounded,
climbed a hill on the rouad to Pikeville and camped on Rock Spring
Mountain that night. Here is a natural spring emerging from a rock
near the top of the mountain. The wounded man died that night, and
as no other means of buorial was convenient, his comrades crammed
him into a hollow chestnut log and left in the morning. In later
years the story of the bnrial on Rock Spring Mountain was told around
many firesides.

The legends® are easily recalled because the transition fram
picneer days to the present was slower in the Big Sandy than in any
other section of Kentucky. The Indians cling to the valley after
they had surrendered the rest of Kentucky, and the isclation of the
area was pronounced pntil late in the nineteenth century. Suddenly
emerging into the twentieth century, the people of our valley looked

back on their long history as if it were but yesterday.



Big Sandians talk of Daniel Boone as if he lived only a few years
ago. The Auxiers have a buffalo rocbe he gave cne of their ancestors
when he was leaving Blockhouse Bottom. The Leslies have a powder
horn he gave "the First Man." Midway up Right Beaver Creek, on a
stone overlooking the hamlet of Fastern, is carved the lettering
"D.B. 1775." Whether the frontiersman sat down there on an eastern
Kentucky hunting trip amd cut his initials has been debated by
historians but not by local residents. The initials are there and
Boone was there.

The mere facts of history in the Big Sandy never suffer for
embellishment, Nelson Boggs of Lawrence County, a member of the 14th
Kentucky Infantry, was killed at ther battle of Middle Creek in 1862
while serving under Col. Garfield. This much is historic fact. But
oldtimers say that, in the carnage of battle, his comrades picked
up his body and hefted it into the crotch of an apple tree until
the battle was over. True or not, this is a typical Big Sandy elabo-
ration.

Another belief is that the Federals falsified their caspalties
list. Returning Confederates were told by their kinsmen and friends
back in the wvalley that large mumbers of the Union dead and wounded
were loaded on the barges and shipped downstream to Louisa and
Catlettsbarg. The story served to salve the pride of the defeated
troops of Confederate Gen. Humphrey Marshall.

Though many sections of Kentucky have had as mnch history as
the Big Sandy Valley, no accounts of the events occurring elsewhere

were as romantic or picturesgue as ours.
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Asked if he had anything to
say, Hovdin addressed the erowd:

“T am here for killing a man
heeause of my wile. My wile was
the eause of it all. T thought I
was doing vight when 1T killed
Mounts buft now I sec 1 was
wrong. The T.ord has forgiven me
for it and I am ready to dic”

e announced he had composed
a hymn that he would like o
sing. It was titled, “Let Thy
Bosom Be My Tillow.™

Taking a sheet of paper from
his pocket, he =fowiy unfolded
it. “*On this seaffold high for mur-
der, Let Thy bosom. bc my pil-
Iow,” he sanp.

The song cnded, he bowed his
nead in praver, In a few moments
he icoked up, sald quielly: *T amn
prepared to go. I will soon be
free from sin, prison, death and
nisery.”

* Sheriff Charles Jooked at his
watch, told Huardia he had but
nine minutes to live.

“That's a short life,” the pris-
ioner quipped with a smile.

Te took a piece of tobacco from
.1his pocket and while recaching it
.to Charles requested him to pgive
it to a Mrs. Dennis who was In
the crowd. “I am ready now,”
he said, “Don't tell me when you
are ready to let me drop.”

i Charles adjusted the rope and
prepared to slip a black hood ov-
, er Hardin® face.

The killer of John Mounts saw
the sheriff's action, and remem-
bered the cigar he had put in
+his mouth a roment before,
reached it to the man who was

to execlite him, said sardonically: |

“T will this cigacr to you.”

The sheriff held the cigar in
his left hand, raised his right
arm to swing down with a hatch-
et to cut the ropc that would
send John Hardin to death.

The spoctacle of a man going |
to his decath as nonchalantly as/|
ilardin  endeared him in  the
hearts of the rugged neuntain.-
cors Even today, in the recessesi
of the Cumberlands, there are’
places where people will gather,
11 the late cvenings and sing,!
“The Legend of John Hardin,”
to the accompaniment of a guilar
or banjo,

They sing of how an castbound
train was late and of John Hard-

in who went to his death with a
jest and smile.

.
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BIG SANDY RIVERMEN'S CUSTOMS REVIEWED 1IN FLOYD .COUNTY LAWSUIT by

Henry P. Scalf (Reprinted from the Paintsville Herald, February 15,

1956)

Fifty years ago a "drommer"” for a Knoxville wholesale drygoods
campany walked into J.P. lLaven's store at Dwale and sold him a bill
of merchandise. The goods were shipped to the rail terminal at White-
hoase from which it was brought up the Big Sandy to Dwale. The
carrier dropped Laven's merchandise in the water. The ensuing lawsoit
reveals many old riparian castams.

Several years after laven initiated his suit against the
Chesapeake and Ohio Railway Company the Kentucky Court of Appeals
rendered its decision. Judge W.E. Settle, reviewing the case, recalled
bits of old river lore, long unmentioned but still recalled by old-
timers.

In his decision Judge Settle wrote:

"Appellee (Laven) was a country merchant, his
residence and store at that time being at Dwale,
a post office situated in Floyd County upon the
Big Sandy, about 30 miles from Whitehouse. There
is no railroad from Whitehouse to Dwale, ard
the public roads between those points being
mountainous ard practically impassable for wagons,
the only way of transporting merchandise or other
freight from one of these points to the other
is by the boats running the Big Sandy river;

both small steamboats and 'pushboats' being used



for that purpose.

"The pushboat is a flat boat operated by poles
in the hands of experienced boatmen. The Big
Sandy River is a swift, though shallow mountain
stream, subject to sudden rise and fall. Muach
of the time its depth is not sufficient for the
ruming of steamboats but it is always sufficient
for the operation of pushboats. It often happens
however that a sudden rise in the river will
stop the running of pashboats up streams, as
in such cases the unusual force of the current
resulting from the increase in the volume of
water becames too great for the boats to be
propelled against it by pushing. When the push-
boats are caught by these rises, they make a
landing and tie up until the river runs dowm
to such a stage as will enable them to proceed;
bat if while one of the pushboats is tied up,
a steamboat passes going to the same point of
destination it is the custam for the freight
of the pushbcat to be transferred to the steamboat
for further transportation and delivery to the
cansignees, by which arrangement, without addi-
tional cost, a quicker delivery of such freight
would result than would be accamplished by the

pushboat "
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So moch for the customs of the river as reviewed by Judge Settle.
After many years' evolution the river costams brought trouble to
several parties and a lawsuit for the railroad campany. The box
of goods unloaded from the railway car at Whithouse had a soggy
adventure.

One of the men who had trouble from the box of goods was Green
Wells, an old riverman and captain of several pushboats for hire.
He operated bp and down the Big Sandy, wherever his boats could get
business. As he was often in whitehouse he was entrusted by the upper
Sandy merchants to transport many a barrel of sugar, salt, and flownr.

Whitehouse, as the railrocad's southern terminus, was a boamtown,
the wharfs and rail station piled with freight and crowded with
people., Bat if that freight were allowed to accumulate the congestion
would overfill the storage facilities. So here ancther custam of
the river would come to play. At the suggestion of the terminal
freight man, boat cwners would often take goods on their boats without
being asked by the consignees and deliver them, collecting at the
final destination, usually fram a very pleased merchant.

When the box of drygoods from Knoxville arrived at Whitehouse
the freightman in charge asked Wells to deliver it by pushboat to
Laven. Wells really tried his best. He had delivered goods to Laven
before and he knew that his Dwale friend would willingly pay the
river freight. Since the box had been at Whitehouse for eight days,
he assumed that Laven would be amnxious to receive his merchandise
as soon as possible.

Judge Settle, in his decision, noted that "at that time there

were as many as 200 merchants and others residing and doing business
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upan and contiguous to Big Sandy river whose goods and freight were
shipped to and received at Whitehouse and from there carried by steam
or pushboats to the consignees." He felt that with sbhch a large amount
of freight accumulating at that place the agent was justified in
offering Laven's goods to Wells for delivery.

Wells placed Laven's box on his pushboat. His men, using their
arms and stoat poles, moved up the river. The water was low and
only the steamboats of light draught were on the river that day.
A few clouds were a harbinger of rain, biat Wells and his men, river
veterans, had no premcnition of trouble. They had weathered many
heavy rains on the Big Sandy before.

Stoddenly, in the early aftermoon, the heavens opened and the
pushboat crews hastily swung tarpanlins over the piles of freight
and pushed steadily upstream. An hour or so later they met the first
signs of a rising river. Still they pushed ahead. Finally Wells
reluctantly tied his pushboat to a riverside tree and humped up his
boat to wait out the storm.

later that day Wells saw the steamboat Sea Gull churning its
way upstream, towing a lighter. Not being able to tell how long he
might be forced to wait out the storm, he arranged with the Sea Gull's
captain to transfer laven's goods while he would stay with the
pushboat, waiting for the stom to subside.

The Sea Gull moved up the river against the storm, palling the
lighter loaded with merchandise including the Dwale-bound box. It
was getting late in the day and the Sea Gull was making slow headway.
Suddenly, out of the murky atmosphere of the river, a whistle sounded

fram a boat downriver-bound. It was the Dr. York which hove into
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sight only a short distance from the Sea Gull and struck the lighter
overturning it. Down to the bottam of the Big Sandy went Laven's
box.

For three hours the crews fished in the river for merchandise,
impeded by the rain and the rising waters. Finally, all was
recovered, including Laven's box, and loaded again on the Sea Gall
for its continuing journey. At night, hours later, Laven's box,
soggy fram its mishap in the river, was unloaded at its destination.

Iaven opened the box in his store and pulled ocut piles of wet,
faded and wrinkled merchandise. He refused to pay the Knoxville
shipper. The firm sued him. Laven employed the law firm of A.J. and
W.H. May, and sued the C&0. In the Floyd Circuit Court he procured
a Jjudgement for $645.35 against the railway. The latter appealed,
and Juodge Settle, basing his decision on river customs, reversed
the Floyd Court's judgement. Settle thought that the custom of the
railway company in transhipping goods to upper Sandy merchants withoat
authority from the consignees was well established and accepted by
Laven and others.

Sc we know that at least one Big Sandy custom has received

jedicial recognition.
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BIG SANDY RIVERMEN'S CUSTOMS REVIEWED IN FLOYD COUNTY LAWSUIT by

Henry P. Scalf (Reprinted fram the Paintsville Herald, February 15,

1956)

Fifty years ago a "drummer" for a Knoxville wholesale drygocods
campany walked into J.P. Laven's store at Dwale and sold him a bill
of merchandise. The goods were shipped to the rail terminal at white-
hoase fram which it was brought up the Big Sandy to Dwale. The
carrier dropped Laven's merchandise in the water. The ensning lawsuit
reveals many old riparian cuastoms.

Several years after Laven initiated his suit against the
Chesapeake and Chic Railway Company the Kentucky Court of Appeals
rendered its decision. Judge W.E. Settle, reviewing the case, recalled
bits of old river lore, long unmentioned but still recalled by old-
timers.

In his decision Judge Settle wrote:

"Appellee {laven) was a country merchant, his
residence and store at that time being at Dwale,
a post office situated in Floyd County upon the
Big Sandy, about 30 miles from Whitehouse. There
is no railrocad from Whitehouse to Dwale, and
the public roads between those points being
momntainouws and practically impassable for wagons,
the only way of transporting merchandise or cther
freight fram one of these points to the other
is by the boats running the Big Sandy river;

both small steamboats and 'pushboats' being used



for that purpose.

"The pushboat is a flat boat operated by poles
in the hands of experienced boatmen. The Big
Sandy River is a swift, though shallow mountain
stream, subject to swidden rise and fall. Much
of the time its depth is not sufficient for the
rmning of steamboats but it is always sufficient
for the operation of pushboats. It often happens
however that a sudden rise in the river will
stop the running of pashboats up streams, as
in such cases the unusual force of the current
resulting from the increase in the volume of
water becomes too great for the boats to be
propelled against it by pushing. Wwhen the push-
boats are caught by these rises, they make a
landing and tie up until the river runs down
to such a stage as will enable them to proceed;
bat if while one of the pushboats is tied up,
a steamboat passes going to the same point of
destination it is the custom for the freight
of the pushboat to be transferred to the steamboat
for further transportation and delivery to the
consignees, by which arrangement, without addi-
tional cost, a quicker delivery of such freight
would result than would be accamplished by the

pushboat."



S50 mpch for the customs of the river as reviewed by Judge Settle.
After many vyears' evolution the river custams brought troumble to
several parties and a lawsuit for the railroad campany. The box
of goods unloaded fram the railway car at Wwhithouse had a soggy
adventure.

One of the men who had trouble from the bax of goods was Green
Wells, an old riverman and captain of several pushboats for hire.
He operated up’and down the Big Sandy, wherever his boats could get
basiness. As he was often in Whitehouse he was entrusted by the upper
Sandy merchants to transport many a barrel of sugar, salt, and flour.

whitehouse, as the railroad's socuthern terminus, was a boomtown,
the wharfs and rail station piled with freight and crowded with
pecple. Bat if that freight were allowed to accumulate the congestian
would overfill the storage facilities. So here another custom of
the river would come to play. At the suggestion of the terminal
freight man, boat owners would often take goods on their boats without
being asked by the consignees and deliver them, collecting at the
final destination, usually from a very pleased merchant.

When the box of drygoods from Knoxville arrived at Whitehouse
the freightman in charge asked Wells to deliver it by pushboat to
Laven. Wells really tried his best. He had delivered goods to Laven
before and he knew that his Dwale friend would willingly pay the
river freight., Since the box had been at Whitehouse for eight days,
he assumed that Laven woiald be anxious to receive his merchandise
as soan as possible.

Judge Settle, in his decision, noted that "“at that time there

were as many as 200 merchants and others residing and doing business
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upon and contiguous to Big Sandy river whose goods and freight were
shipped to and received at Whitehouse and fram there carried by steam
or pushboats to the consignees.” He felt that with siuch a large amount
of freight accumulating at that place the agent was Jjustified in
offering Laven's goods to Wells for delivery.

Wells placed ILaven's box an his pushboat. His men, using their
arms and stoat poles, moved up the river. The water was low and
only the steamboats of light draught were on the river that day.
A few clouds were a harbinger of rain, bat Wells and his men, river
veterans, had no premonition of trouble. They had weathered many
heavy rains on the Big Sandy before.

Spaddenly, in the early afternoon, the heavens opened and the
pushboat crews hastily swung tarpauwlins over the piles of freight
and pushed steadily upstream. A&n hour or so later they met the first
signs of a rising river. Still they pushed ahead. Finally Wells
reluctantly tied his pushboat to a riverside tree and humped up his
boat to wait out the starm.

Iater that day Wells saw the steamboat Sea Gull churning its
way upstream, towing a lighter., Not being able to tell how long he
might be forced to wait out the storm, he arranged with the Sea Gull's
captain to transfer Ilaven's goods while he would stay with the
pushboat, waiting for the storm to subside.

The Sea Gull moved up the river against the storm, palling the
lighter loaded with merchandise including the Dwale-bound box. It
was getting late in the day and the Sea Gull was making slow headway.
Siddenly, out of the murky atmosphere of the river, a whistle sounded

from a boat downriver-bound. It was the Dr. York which hove into
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sight only a short distance from the Sea Gull and struck the lighter

overturning it. Down to the bottam of the Big Sandy went Laven's
box.

For three hours the crews fished in the river for merchandise,
impeded by the rain and the rising waters. Finally, all was
recovered, including Laven's box, and loaded again on the Sea Gall
for its continuing journey. At night, hours later, Laven's bax,
soggy from its mishap in the river, was unlocaded at its destination.

Laven opened the box in his store and pulled out piles of wet,
faded and wrinkled merchandise. He refused to pay the Knoxville
shipper. The firm sued him. Laven employed the law firm of A.J. and
W.H. May, and sued the C&. 1In the Floyd Circuit Court he procured
a Jjudgement for $645.35 against the railway. The latter appealed,
and Judge Settle, basing his decision on river ocustams, reversed
the Floyd Court's judgement. Settle thought that the cnstam of the
railway company in transhipping goods to upper Sandy merchants withoat
authority from the consignees was well established and accepted by
Laven arnd others.

S0 we know that at least cne Big Sandy custom has received

judicial recognition.
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FIRE, ENGULFING VALLEY'S FOREST, FOUGHT BY UNITED OOMMUNITY by Henry

P. Scalf (Reprinted fram the Floyd County Times, November 8, 1956)

The first evidence of the big fire came one evening in late
October when most of the farmers and loggers of the Buffalo, Mare,
and Caney Creek watersheds were planning to retire for the night.
Sameone spotted a faint glow on the Buffalo ridge, emanating fram
the head of Clark Branch.

It had been dry for weeks. The creek beds were as parched as
the much traveled roads. To drop a match or even to build a fire
to boil water for the family wash was to risk a conflagration. A
sudden puff of wind could whip up many small fires in the grass,
in fence corners, or at the edges of the woods. Wind-borne sparks
could ignite a blaze that would soon engulf fields and fences for
miles.

The residents of the area who gazed at the incipient glow over
the Buffalce Creek ridges in late 1914 gave little thought to either
timber or game preservation. They were mainly concerned with fences
encircling the hill pastures. Those long zig-zag lines of split rails
kept their sheep fram running wild and stray animals from besetting
their crops.

Farmers went to bed that night worrying about the next day,
wondering if the wind would gain strength, and calculating how long
it woald be before their fences would be endangered. Many got up
in the night, stared at the demarcationm between ridge and sky, saw
that the glow was a bit higher and brighter. Few slept well that
night.

Daylight came and the men went to their usual tasks, except for
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those who lived on Clark Branch. Jim Henry Borchett owned several
hundred acres there, almost cawpletely surrounded by those split
rail fences, many made of yellow popular logs yvears ago by his father.
Those rails were as 'light as a feather" now and lay in beds of
leaves. Burchett called on his sons and neighbors and one or two
of his tenants, and with an odd assortment of rakes, pitchforks,
hoes, and cther farm tools they climbed the hill. They did not know
it then but many wonld not return hame, except for food and water,
for several days.

They climbed the hill, Indian file, throwing the leaves fram
a wide swath. Slowly they worked toward the ridge. When they reached
the crest they deployed right and left, chopping out dead tree
branches and rolling decaying logs aside. An elderly man lagged behind
the lengthening ring and fired the north side. The blaze erupted
quickly, moving downhill, the burned area becoming a protective shield
against '"wildcat” fires behind the men ahead.

But you can "back fire a ring” only so far because, inevitably,
you approach other property lines, and the blaze you set to protect
yourself may destroy a neighbor's fences or his barn or other
buildings. The Burchett crew stopped their procedure after a few
hundred feet and began to clear ouat a ring toward the bottaom to
seal off the burning woods. Having done this, they reclimbed the
mountain, moved the ring east along the crest of the ridge again.
Their efforts were nearing an end as they expected to quit samewhere
on Buffalo, near the Boyd farm.

Spyddenly, one of the lead men loocked out into the smoke-filled

air and stared intently toward the valley bottam. Others also stopped

.
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their work and looked and listened. They coald see a deep gray billow
of smoke rising and mushroaming below them. There were faint noises
from crackling wood as it burned, all coming up under them from
far down the mountainside. "Great God!" a man cried out, "They've
raked a ring around their fences and are firing above it. They'll
burm us up!"”

The slow moving action of a moment before became a fierce effort
now as each man dug in at his work. The ring moved along and men,
campleting tasks behind, ran ahead to other tasks. Suddenly, a billow
of smoke swept across the ridge, and in a moment there was heard
the rush of a mighty fire that created a propelling wind as it
expanded and heated the air. No one spcke and no one looked up.
They raked and chopped and dug. The ring was moving faster now and
in a few minutes they were far enough east of the onrushing fire
to stop. When they did there was a great wall of red flame that swept
up and died on the ridge.

Landowners from farther up Baffalo Creek now joined the Burchett
crew, and scme of the latter went hame to eat and bring back food
and water to the others. A man went down to the road, walked up the
creek, seeking help and begging the farmers to rake a ring around
their hill fences. Twilight came, and a man reappeared on the mountain
with water and food. Sitting dowm on the ridge, leaning against giant
trees, they ate. But they had no water to wash so many rubbed
smoke-filled red eyes with their grimy hands.

Relief came after dark. News had spread in the bottam that the
men fram Clark Branch had raked a ring up the ridge to their section.

Bob, Jim, John, and Beb Scalf, Golden Adkins, Ireland Thampson,
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and chers arrived with rakes, hoes, and axes. At midnight several
of the original crew, urged by their fellows, went hame. The ring
reached the Numnery Fork where the widowed Rebecca Nunnery lived.
Her son Sherman joined the firefighters.

To protect the Nunnery Fork farm a ring was raked down a point
to the creek. The men were thinking of going hame now for the fire
was practically sealed off on Lower Buffaloc Creek. They climbed
back to the ridge, intending to "walk the ring" to find danger spots
or breakovers. Pausing to wind on the high ridge they saw a red spot
in the woods farther up the creek. It grew bigger and moved out
in all directions. How this fire had been ignited no one counld say.
Maybe it was a hunter bent on enjoyving a forest blaze. Or a care-
lessly thrown match.

Again, they deployed in single file, stringing along the crest
of the ridge. According to a quickly formed plan, they tock the ring
around the Nunnery farm and off to the creek again. Daylight came,
then noon, and amother evening., Aunt Becky Nunnery sent food and
water. The men were now beyond the last fire and had passed the Paw
Paw Fork.

They stopped on the high mountain to eat and rest. By then the
fire had swept over to the far side of Buffalo Creek. The men sat
for an hour or more, Several dozed on the hard ground; one or two
talked of fox hunting, a few discussed their crops. Several wanted
only to rest before starting for hame.

But many of them objected to leaving the fire at that time.
They were afraid that if they did the fire woild move on to Mare

Creek, destroying the fences of their kinsmen. They began to debate
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this issue, each expressing his opinion in desultory fashion. Nothing
had been decided when they saw a lantern bobbing up and down along
the ridge several hundred yards away.

A half hour later the lanterm bearer came into view followed
by three Mare Creek residents. They joined in the argument, begging
for help to take the ring further up Buffalo. The Mare Creek land-
owners won. No matter how tired a man might be he couldn't resist
an appeal to help save a lot of fence.

It was past midnight when they stopped again. Bob Scalf, who
was to die a few years later in an Argonne wheat field, was sent
to Mare Creek for water and food. The crew, now numbering at least
a dozen men, fell down on beds of leaves just under the smmiit of
Bedstead Mountain. Nearby was the evergreen-crested top of Pine Knab.

The ring stretched out west fram where the men sat, snaked along
the ridge crest for several miles. They argued over how long it was.
Same said it was five miles. Aanother argued that they had raked,
side rings and all, a protective path for eight hours. Finally,
they guieted down and a few fell asleep. B2ll awaited food and water.

Soon there was perfect silence as the little cluster of fire-
fighters lay on the leaves. How long they lay there, with every muscle
and nerve weary from the effort, no one could recall. A man yelled
and they rose to their feet, groggy and leaning on their tools. All
eyes turned to stare at a sudden shower of wind-borme sparks coming
fram the other side of Buffalo.

Thousands of sparks sank into the deep canyon-like valley bat
others were carried almost to the feet of the watchers. It was now

a question of time till the whole mountain where they were standing



would be a blazing inferno. After gquick conspltation they started
again to rake, talking intermittently of the absolute necessity of
continuing the ring around the head of Mare Creek and thropgh the
Courtney Gap ;EjHarmons Branch. They moved out aroand a great flat,
under the smoke-covered tops of the Pine Knob and Bedstead Mountain.

So intent were the men on their work that none saw the initial
spark that fired the upper reaches of the mountain. When they looked
it seemed as if there must have been same giant explosion. Flames
Were sweeping up the mountains, carried by the increasing wind.
The men paused to watch, through the flames and smoke, the giant
trees that soon toppled over. Swiftly the wall of fire moved toward
the crest of the mountain, with the noise of exploding rocks like
distant thunder.

It was the capriciouns wind that saved them from continued effort.
No one can anticipate a wind's vagaries in an area ringed by mountain
forest fires. It shifted, blowing almost at right angles to its
former course. The fire came to a spdden stop in its mad sweep around
the steep sides of the hill. Almost simultaneounsly with the change
of wind, every man sank to the ground. Now and then a squirrel ard
a raccoon or two scampered by, fleeing the fire.

Down in the bottam Bob Scalf and two young boys he had recruited
started the long climb up Bedstead Mountain. Each carried several
food-filled buckets and jugs of water. Bob had two jugs in a sack
thrown over his shoulders. He carried a bucket in his left hand and
swung a lantern with his right. The two youngsters tagged along,
stumbling in the path, enjoying the adventure of dark places and

sudden falls.



Bcb and the boys found the fire fighters curled up in grotesque
positions asleep in the leaves. All grumbled when they wesy were
awakened, They ate lustily, drank loudly fram the jugs. The two
boys scampered about on the oater edge of the group, chasing each
other in the leaves. One, hearing an animal squeal, found a chipmunk
seared and dying.

"You know, I think it's going to rain," said Bob, pointing at
the sky.

"No such luck," someone answered.

They all stared through the trees and spotted rain clouds coming
fram the west.

' a man said. "Yep," and his voice rose

"West winds bring rain,’
a bit, "It's going to rain."

The clouds thickened and from the outer ring a man observed
quietly: ™This is one that ain't going around.”

Bob Scalf sat propped against a tree, humning a tmne in his deep
hass.

"sing us a song, Bob," a Buffalo neighbor arged. Others added to

the reguest.

Bab fumbled slowly in his pocket, bringing out a tuning fork.
He always carried it with him when he sang at parties and stag
gatherings. He tapped the fork against a stone, listening to the
vibrations. "what are yol going to sing, Bob?" a man asked. There
was no reply. The old singing master was listening to his fork.

Slowly, the deep bass notes of "Rock of Ages" wafted on the

mountain. Many joined in a moment; others hummed the ancient tmne

for all knew the hymn.
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The song ended, and no one spoke until the magic of the old
hymn faded.

"You know what I think?" one said. "I think we are going to
get wet."

They picked up their tools and prepared to leave., Bob and the
two boys retrieved their buckets and Jjugs. The first rain drops
pelted the green leaves. "You know," a man said, proudly, "nary a
farmer lost a rail of fence.”

"Not a rail has burned,” another agreed. As he spoke, a pheasant
rushed across the bench and disappeared in the darkness. ‘''You know,
though, somehow I think these big fires make the hunting bad."

There was a crash on the moantain and a billow of smoke and sparks
as a tree fell. "I think, too, there's an awful lot of timber wasted,"
he added.

"Ouit worrying about the timber," he was told. "There'll be timber
when we ain't around. Bat I'm like you about the huntin.' There
just ain't much game for a long time after a big woods fire."

The men were preparing to leave now. Same were going back along
the flat to take the ridge hame, while others would move cautiously

in the pale light down the steep slope of Bedstead Mountain.
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COLORFUL HISTORY AND LEGEND ABOUND IN BIG SANDY VALLEY by Henry

P. Scalf (Reprinted fram the Floyd County Times, December 20, 1956)

The people of the Big Sandy area may be more conscious of their
early history than are people of any other section of Appalachia.

Their longtime isolation was broken half a century ago by the
intrusion of the railroad. Their emergence into the twentieth century
was but a step, psychologically, from the log cabin era when the
settlers fought Indians and tried to tame the primitive wilderness.

Oldtimers of the Johns Creek area of Pike and Floyd Counties
often refer to William Robert ILeslie as "the First Man." It was
Daniel Boone, they declare, who brought Leslie to Johns Creek and
showed him the wide bottams.

Leslie climbed a high ridge at the mouth of Big Brushy Creek
and, looking over the pristine valley, exclaimed: "Great God, what
a place to live!" The leslie settlement is history, but legends like
those abcat the First Man, have been perpetuated in this area for
years.

On a day when the sun shines and visibkility has no ceiling save
the blue can opy of the sky, you can climb 0ld Bedstead, a 1,700
foot mountain in eastern Floyd County, and view a large section of
the Big Sandy Valley., Yoa know that north is Johns Creek with its
branches--Buffalo, Caney, Big Brushy and Bent. South is the Big Sandy
River, with the high knobs of Sugar Camp and Brandy Keg jutting up
like rugged sentinels.

Each place name suggests a legend. Bedstead Mountain received

its name when Tandy R. Stratton, having need of another bed, took
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an axe and went up a little, At the foot of the hill that bears this

name, he cpnt down a giant poplar, and with deft carpenter strokes
he fashioned himself a bed. He slept on it for a decade, and after
he died his children, recalling how it was made, preserved it in
an attic.

The Bedstead Branch flows into Mare Creek, a tributary of the
Big Sandy. The Strattons settled Mare Creek and, in 1821, when the
divising line between Pike and Floyd Counties was run, the family
found itself in Pike. "I don't like to do business in Piketon,' the
clan head said, and began a fight to get back in mother Floyd. He
made it twenty four years later when the General Assembly passed
a special act for his benefit.

Bat his land didn't touch Floyd County anywhere, and although
by legislative act he was no longer in Pike County, he was still
surrounded by it. Oldtimer._: :;:lled the 1,000 acre tract "Little Floyd
County." In between Floyd and Little Floyd was a quarter mile stretch
claimed by both counties. A confused judge once named it "No Man's
Land." Scarcely a year goes by that Stratton descendants on their
farm don't fight, legally or otherwise, to stay in Floyd County.

Buffalo Gap is a low pass in the ridge between Little Floyd and
the headwaters of Buffalo Creek. Streams with such picturesgue names
as Big Rough, Paw Paw, Twin Branch, and White Oak Creek head in this
wooded country. In the moontainside near the Broad Hollow are caves
-—dark holes in the rocks leading to nobody knows where. One was
visited byﬂ:sliev. Robert Adams when he was a boy nearly a century ago.
He pushed aside leaves and animal bones as he wiggled through the

tight dark tunnels and emerged several hundred feet downstream.
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No cne has tried that since.

The Big Sandy is a great place to live, as the Great Man said,
and especially so if you like to hear the old legends about it.
Same of these may be trivial and of interest to none but the local
residents. But others may intrigue everyone in the region.

There was the Wolf Creek posse which, in 1847, went after Bill
Pruitt and killed him on the headwaters of Tug River.

Abner James was sentenced to hang. His brother-in-law Billy McCoy
rode to Frankfort and begged Gov. William Owsley to pardon the
Condemmed man. He secured the pardon and hurriedly rode back to Big
Sandy, arriving the night before the day set for the execution.
That was history.

Stories told around many a fireside embellished the accomt of
Billy McCoy's ride fram Frankfort. He is said to have killed four
horses in a wild breakneck ride, arriving in Louisa on the day of
the execution. He plunged through a large crowd toward the moving
wagon in which Abner James rode, sitting on a rpde coffin. McCoy
passed the governor's pardon to the sheriff. Legend insists that
James then stood up, and flapping his arms, crowed like a cock:
"The jury said I'd hang; the governor says I won't." Just where
history ends and legend begins no one can say, and most don't care.
History has ruined many a good story.

Jermy Wiley's capture by the Indians in 1789 in Ab's valley,
Virginia, is history and legend. Historians tell of her capture
and the death of five of her children and a brother at the hands
of a mongrel band led by Black Wolf, the Shawnee, and of her escape

to Harmon's Station, the first settlement in eastern Kentucky, midway
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between the present Prestonsburg and Paintsville. The Harmons escorted
Mrs. Wiley back to Virginia, but she and her husband, Thomas,
returned to the Big Sandy, becoming two of Johnson County's first
settlers.

Over the years she told and retold the story of her captivity
and rescue to her children and neighbors. The legend grew after
her death. The Auxiers, fomnders of Blockhobse Bottam, at East Point,
often related the story of how Mrs. Wiley was led on the escape
path by a bird flying along the trail. Members of the Borders family,
nieces and nephews of Mrs. Wiley, added to the legends. They would
tell of how, Running wildly through the farest, she wore out her
mocassins. Stumbling along on frozen ground, her feet cunt and
bleeding, she found the still warm carcasses of a buffalo her pursuers
had killed. She parted the warm flesh and stocd on it until her pain
went away. These are legends, unverifiable by the historians, but
told and retold on the Big Sandy.

Stories like the Wiley captivity had a tremendous impact on the
consciousness of pioneer families. Historic and legendary accounts
of her experience have became so confusing that historians have
accepted, with little credit, what is said to be known about her.
In the remote sections of the Big Sandy mothers still sing their
babies to sleep with the Jenny Wiley lullaby. 2nd when they get
older and start to stray from their homes children hear their mothers
call in warning "Jenny Wiley, Jenny Wiley", and they hurriedly return
to their hames.

As one travels up the Big Sandy, passes Pikeville, turns up Shelby

Creck, and crosses over onto the headwaters of Elkhorn, he cames
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to the foot of Pound Mountain. Here is Pound Gap through which passed

the first settlers of the Big Sandy Valley. A great highway is being
finished through this historic pass. But not long ago the road was
only a wagon trail, rocky and beaten under by at least a century
of traffic. Col. James A, Garfield, the Union commander in that area,
fought a battle there and routed the surprised Confederates.

Picket Rock stands like a sentinel a few hundred yards fram the
gap. So named because Confederate camanders posted men there to
watch down the Sandy road, it is better known as the site of
Dr. M.B. Taylor's massacre of the Ira Mullins family. In 1892 Taylor,
the Red Fox of "The Trail of the Lonesome Pine', and two associates,
the Fleming brothers, hid in a jumble of rocks and fatally shot
five of that family as they approached the gap. Only Jane Mullins
and Ira's fourteen year old son escaped. For a while Dr. Taylor
hid in the woods of ILetcher, Pike, and Wise Counties while his two
associates fled to West Virginia.

‘The authorities sent for Ed Hall, a Floyd County native, wham
everyone called ''The Mountain Man Hunter." Wwhen outlaws defied
other peace officers, Bl Hall woild be sent to bring them in., He
found Dr. Taylor in a fruit tree box at the Bluefield, W.Va. express
office where his son had shipped him from Nortan, Virginia. [Editor's
note: Actually Dr. Taylor was found in a freight car in the Bluefield
railyards where he was waiting to hop another freight for Florida.]
Taylor died on the scaffold but EJ Hall was sick then and did not
see him die. Later Hall and two others walked six days intc West
Virginia to get the Fleming brothers. After killing Cal Fleming,

they brought his brother, Heencn, back for trial.



Dr, Taylor, murderer and mystic, was an educated man who mixed
science and sorcery to cure his mountain patients. He was a deputy
United States marshal for a few years and rode the woodland trails
under the towering Cumberland cliffs with his winchester and a long
telescope. He was expert at tracking his adversaries as well as
avoiding them. It is said that, on occasion, he would put his shoes
on backwards to elude pursners. He preached a long sermon to the
crcwd that had came to see him hang, saying that on the third day
he would rise from his grave. Nobody admitted believing him, but
just in case they left a lighted lantern on his grave for a week.

John Wright, known as Devil Judd Tolliver in John Fox's "Trail
of the Lonesame Pine", lived in a big two-story log house on Elkhorn
Creek, near the present Jenkins. He was host to travelers through
that area who cared to accept his hospitality. A friend of Bad Talt
Hall, the Beaver Creek outlaw, he had a man take Talt's body from
the scaffold in Wise and return it to Kentucky for burial. Wright
and Talt had feuded with "0ld" Clabe Jones, the Floyd and Knott County
badman. Wright and Jones, with their respective henchmen, would travel
back and forth over the headwaters of Beaver, Elkhorn, and Troubleome
Creeks. Both were duly deputized peace cofficers and fought their
feud under the authority of the law with warrants for each other's
arrest. But the warrants issued by different counties were never
served.

The Civil War added to the legends of the Big Sandy. The battle
of Ivy Mountain was fought in 1861. "Bull" Nelson, Union leader,
drove the Confederates under Col. A.J. May back toward Virginia.

It was a rebel debacle, but southern sympathizers would not have
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it so. They camposed a song, singing it in defiance of history:
"You ought to have heard them Yankees' shinbones
rattle
When at the Ivy Narrows they were stricken with
horrors."

The song was written by a mountain balladist long after the fight
when few Big Sandians would admit the Confederates had lost the
battle. Bat Anthony Hatcher and five of his fellow rebels knew it
then, Hatcher had a thigh bone broken by a "Blue Brute" bullet, and
his friends guickly put him on a horse amd fled up Ivy Creek.
Entering Mare Creek through the Sugar Camp Gap, they dropped the
wounded man off at a Union hame where a pre-war friendship brought
care and medical attention. The other soldiers, one serionsly wounded,
climbed a hill on the road to Pikeville and camped on Rock Spring
Mountain that night. Here is a natural spring emerging from a rock
near the top of the mountain. The wounded man died that night, and
as no other means of burial was convenient, his comrades crammed
him into a hollow chestnut log and left in the morning. In later
years the story of the burial on Rock Spring Mountain was told around
many firesides.

The legends’ are easily recalled because the transition from
pioneer days to the present was slower in the Big Sandy than in any
other section of Kentucky. The Indians clung to the valley after
they had surrendered the rest of Kentucky, and the isolation of the
area was pronounced until late in the nineteenth century. Suddenly
emerging into the twentieth century, the people of our valley looked

back on their long history as if it were but yesterday.



Big Sandians talk of Daniel Boone as if he lived only a few years
ago. The Auxiers have a buffalo robe he gave one of their ancestors
when he was leaving Blockhouse Bottom. The Leslies have a powder
horn he gave "the First Man." Midway up Right Beaver Creek, on a
stone overlocking the hamlet of Eastern, is carved the lettering
"D,B., 1775." Whether the frontiersman sat down there on an eastern
Kentucky hunting trip and cut his initials has been debated by
historians but not by local residents. The initials are there and
Boone was there.

The mere facts of history in the Big Sandy never suffer for
embellishment. Nelson Boggs of Lawrence County, a member of the l4th
Kentucky Infantry, was killed at ther battle of Middle Creek in 1862
while serving under Col. Garfield. This much is historic fact. But
oldtimers say that, in the carnage of battle, his comrades picked
up his body and hefted it into the crotch of an apple tree until
the battle was over. True or not, this is a typical Big Sandy elabo-
ration.

Another belief is that the Federals falsified their casualties
list. Returning Confederates were told by their kinsmen and frierds
back in the valley that large numbers of the Union dead and wounded
were loaded on the barges and shipped downstream to Iouisa and
Catlettsbarg. The story served to salve the pride of the defeated
troops of Confederate Gen. Humphrey Marshall.

Though many sections of Kentucky have had as much history as
the Big Sandy Valley, no accounts of the events occurring elsewhere

were as romantic or picturesque as ours.












We know that Boone was in Kentucky in the winter of 1767-8.
He and William Hill passed throangh Pound Gap, followed Elkhorn Creek
through Shelby Gap, and proceeded down Shelby Creek to the Big Sandy
River. They descended that stream to the mouth of Middle Creek,
and went up the latter, following bison and deer tracks to a salt
lick at the present David. Upon their arrival a great snow fell and
they were forced to camp through the winter by the spring, shooting
the deer and bison that came to the lick. The bison were the first
they ever saw,

But we can only conjecture whether Boone returned to this section
of Kentucky in 1775. 1In late 1774 he is known to have been at Capt.
John Blackmore's Fort on the Clinch River, standing guard against
the Indians., And we know that, in Janwary of 1775, he had entered
Kentucky for, according to the Draper Manuascripts in the Wisconsin
Historical Society, he was camped with a party on the Kentucky River.
Boone then had the habit of wandering off by himself on huanting trips
and thus might have left his Kentucky River friends and headed north,
entering Beaver Creek. Or he could have visited Beaver Creek on some
lone journey fram Fort Blackmore either before or just after his
Kentucky River trip. We only know for sure that he had entered
Kentucky in January 1775.

If, in early 1775, Boone had traveled cross-country fram Pound
Gap to the salt lick that he and Hill had visited eight years before.
he could have descended Shelby Creek and gone up either Indian Creek
or Robinson Creek. If he had ascended Indian Creek he would have
came onto Left Beaver near Abner Fork. If he followed Robinson Creek

he would have come out near the head of Big Mud Creek, thence through



the gap to Left Beaver. He would then have descended Left Beaver
for a distance and crossed the dividing ridge to the Goose Creek
area. Perhaps so. Perhaps he sat down on a big flat rock and carved
his initials for posterity. He often did that.

But Dr. J.H. Allen, who was reared on the Goose Creek farm where
the initials are found, is skeptical. He doesnt believe the initials
are Boone's. He 1is sure that when he first saw the initials they
had a "fresh lock.” He thinks they may have been carved as a
practical joke by Van Martin when he was out squirrel hunting, for
Martin was not above such a practical joke.

The only thing we can conclude abont the alleged Boone carving

is that its authenticity is as yet undetermined.




BOONE MAY HAVE CARVED HIS INITIALS IN YEAR 1775 ON A GOOSE CREEK

ROCK by Henry P. Scalf (Reprinted from the Floyd County Times, date

Unkncwr )

Near the Osborne High Rocks on the S.C. Allen farm on Goose Creek,
a branch of Right Beaver, is a jumbled pile of flat rocks. For anyone
coming aroand the big bench and seeking a place to sit and view the
countryside, no more inviting place can be found than a large
sandstone with a table-like top. From atop this stone one can see
the sweep of the valley below, and by looking back he can view the
Turkey Creek gap silhouetted, notch-like, against the sky.

The stone is inscribed with the legend '"D.B. 1775." This may
resemble similar sets of initials known to have been carved by Daniel
Boone on trees, gunlocks, and other stones.

Some oldtimers say the Goose Creek carving has been there for
decades, and may even go back to when the valley was first settled.
Others are frankly skeptical, thinking that same jokester did the
carving, laughing as he did (as hill people often say) "out of the
side of his mouth." W®hether the carving is authentic or not, it
has been subject to considerable discussion for a long time.

Mr Allen, the landowner, has no opinion about the carving's
anthenticity. It was there when he was a boy. He got interested
in the stone when his sister Rosalie, the wife of Judge William
Pharmer Ieslie of Texas, on a visit here, made a fascimile of the
carving, took it to Harrodsburg and compared it with same known Boone
initials. She came away convinced that the Goose Creek initials are

genuine.



We know that Boone was in Kentucky in the winter of 1767-8.
He and William Hill passed through Pound Gap, followed Elkhorn Creek
through Shelby Gap, and proceeded down Shelby Creek to the Big Sandy
River. They descended that stream to the mouth of Middle Creek,
and went up the latter, following bison and deer tracks to a salt
lick at the present David. Upon their arrival a great snow fell and
they were forced to camp through the winter by the spring, shooting
the deer and bison that came to the lick. The bison were the first
they ever saw.

But we can only conjecture whether Boone returned to this section
of Kentucky in 1775, 1In late 1774 he is known to have been at Capt.
John Blackmore's Fort on the Clinch River, standing quard against
the Indians. And we know that, in Janwary of 1775, he had entered
Kentucky for, according to the Draper Mantiscripts in the Wisconsin
Historical Society, he was camped with a party on the Kentucky River.
Boone then had the habit of wandering off by himself on hunting trips
and thus might have left his Kentucky River friends and headed north,
entering Beaver Creek. Or he could have visited Beaver Creek on scme
lone journey from Fort Blackmore either before or just after his
Kentucky River trip. We only know for sure that he had entered
Kentucky in January 1775.

If, in early 1775, Boone had traveled cross-country fran Pound
Gap to the salt lick that he and Hill had visited eight years before,
he counld have descended Shelby Creek and gone up either Indian Creek
or Robinson Creek, If he had ascended Indian Creek he would have
cane onto Left Beaver near Abner Fork. If he followed Robinson Creek

he wonld have come out near the head of Big Mud Creek, thence through
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the gap to Left Beaver. He would then have descended left Beaver
for a distance and crossed the dividing ridge to the Goose Creek
area. Perhaps so. Perhaps he sat down on a big flat rock and carved
his initials for posterity. He often did that.

But Dr. J.H. Allen, who was reared on the Goose Creek farm where
the initials are found, is skeptical. He doesnt believe the initials
are Boone's. He 1is sure that when he first saw the initials they
had a "fresh lock." He thinks they may have been carved as a
practical joke by Van Martin when he was out squirrel hunting, for
Martin was not above such a practical joke.

The only thing we can conclude about the alleged Boone carving

is that its authenticity is as yet undetermined.
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It 15 sald thatl the Hatflelds feared
ody  twn men- Jinp MeCoy  and
Frank Phillips. Devil Aase himself,
sahe adimiringy of the “uerve™ of

¢lan lhetd  MeCoy  captive.  Tor
Frank Pilllips their actions spolie
louder than words. Unless the Hal-
ficlds wero {rvaveling in a holy or
surreptiticusly alone hir the woods
they steered clear of the Kenlucky
side, At home armwed enards waleh-

Phillips-led posse.

The capure of Selkirk McCoy pt
the Hatfields to thinking, Unless
they ended the vendetta by elinli-
nating Bandolph MeCoy and  his
family there would be a continuance
of the strupazle, with Phillips pick-
ing them up one by one in sudden
raids across the border. COut of
their thinking evolved murder and
{ire, of a kind that shocked a nation
and causcd a distinguished Jjudge

Jitn MeCoy and saved him from |
death on one oceagion when hisj

et the raountain  tropils for o

of the Kentucky Court of Appeals to

say that you had to po back to the
annals of “savaze life” to find a
counicrpartd in ¢rimme,

Devil Anse and his henchiman de-
cided to kill Randslph McCoy and
all his family. To do this there was
a calling of the ¢lan. Johnse Hat-
fiold, son of the chicftain, and Tom
“Guerrilla™ Chambers went out to
round up their kinsmen. One of
those enlisted was “Cotton Top”
Meunts,

Ther found Mounts ot home on
the Gurandotte River, putting
ghincles on the house. At first he
dernrurred to joining the proposed
venture but Johnse reminded him
that inere was a reward of $300 on

{Contlinued from Page One)

his heod ond Phillips eould ot him
nexr. .avunis siecumbed to the
przum s and wenb alonz. At Devil
Ansc's nome on Island Creck where
he met his comrades in erime. To
wo out that niuhl and murder the
MeCors the Hatficld leader named |
his sons, Cap, Johnse and Zaoh. To
participate also were Eilioll Hat-
field, Chambers, Mountsa, Charles
Gillnsjie and French Ellis. Anse
pleadad iness U5 bll EXLUSE 1ol 1o

Surrounding the  cpon,  each
assunuwl a stratecte pinee to wateh
donors. Jim Vanee stayed aul in front
of the house and called Jondly far
snrrenger,  Johnse  fired ot the
{frontdeor. He woas answored by the
wi of Calvin MeCoy from an up-
stairs window. Johnse yelled with i
pain, # bullet My his shoulder, The |
battle, planmed by the Hatlields to
end a war, lgied perhaps hall an
hour.

Fim Vanee tyied to fire the fiouse
by [inginr a wmatrh inte cotion
haneine on the outside of the house.
He failed, Tom Chambers  then
climbed upon the house, tore loose
a chipgle and stuck a burning pine
stick through the hole, Calvin Me-
Coy  shot three fingers off and
Chambers rolled off tile house and
ramn,

Tiie burning piece of pine fcll at
the side of the house, & thareat io
its destruction. Calvin called to his
sister Allifair to pour water on it
Openiny ihie door, she emptied a
bucket of water in the direction of
the fire but in her excitement the
pim was inaccurate, There beinz no
morc water, she tried again with a
churn of miik. Thnis, too, failed.
Seeing that 'the house must now
burny, Allifair opened the kitchen
door and stared at the masked
facas.

“Cap Hatlield, you're out there. I,
know your voice,” she said. i

Some one shouted, “Damn her,!
kill that cirl.,” “Cotton Top” Mounts
raiscd his rifle, shot her dead in the
dooryay. Her sisters, Josephine and
Addie, drugzed her body inside.

At o cry that Allifair was killed,
Sarah MeCoy, wife of the MeCoy
leader, ran from the house, Jim.

lf_{o Lat put Jimw Vance churge.
Vonce gave his men a oriefing,
threatoned he “would kill any man
as went back on him that nizht
it powder would burn.” .
iorhey went by a devious lrail,l

|

emerted 00 Blackberry Creek nLeul
midin.eht. Approaching ihe home of
Rundelph  McCoy, they pat on
T, ke, Vance apuinh pave o “pep”
fale, reminded them that, i{f the
family was wiped out no wilnesses
would remain of former deeds, and
that o leader with a will to carry
on for the McCoys would be dead.l

Vance knockod her down withh his
rifle Dbutt, Johnse, seeing sie was
not dezd. stuck her over the head
with a revolver. She lay there
awhile, but finally began to crawl
avay while the Hatfields wers
seekinT fo kill Calvin and Randolph
ag thiey fled the house.

- Randelph made it to the woods
but Calvin didn't, A fussillade of
shots brought him down near the
cornerib, The two other girls also
sucercded in maoking their escape,
and, watching fromn the woods, they
saw the Ilxtficlds ride away. They
returied to the house and drapgpged!
Allifair's bDody out of the burning
houae,

Scveral hours later old Randolph
McCoy, shivering with cold and the
azony of great tragedy, stumhbled
down g path toward the charred re-
mains of his house, He found the
bodies of Cualvin and Allifair, He
sy Doy were dead. TTe searched on
for olhevs, heard a mean and moved
carelully through the moonlight,
His wife was lying in a wcelier of
blood, her nair matted with it and
frozen to the ground. He picked her

ian alert officer nahhed him for the

uUp I s Arms, S1W gu¢ Was still
Hyvinr. Ife cavricd her up the trall
Levord a poirhbor's house,

Tho Hetflelds rode back to West
Virerinia, enrsing their luck. The
hattle to end a war had heen un-
suecessful. Qld Randolphy had escap-
ed and two olher murders would be
charred to them. TFrank Phillips
would come riding again.

Fronk Fhillips did ride agaln, but
1ye foiled to eatch any of the Hat-
firlde for o lone time. They were
wary, and scveral fled. Charles Gll-
lespic went prer into Virginta where

revward. TL ras a month before they
caught “Caotlon Top” Mounts, and
the honeor didmt go to Phillips,
atthouch lie had mode several sud-
den plunzes into the Tug country
and a few iimes had led sorties to
the headwaters of the Guyendotte.

Two smart detectives, Treve Gib-
son and Dan Cunningham, were out
to pet some of the reward Inoney.
They ambushed Mounts on the head
of Male Creck, held o gun in his
face and pezan to put the hand-
cuffs on, From somewhere came
rifle shots. One struck Gibson in
_tie ler. Cunaingham pulled comrade
and prisoner botll inte the bushes. _
The next dav Mounts was lodged in
the Fike connty jail.

Mounts confessed his misdeeds to
Pike county attorney Lee Ferguson,
implicated all of the Hatfield clan
that had participated in tixe murders
of Tolbert, Palmer and young Ran-
dolph MceCoy early in the feud. He

detalled the carnaze at Blackberry
Creck and named his arcomplices.
7Trial of the Hatfields, Mounts and
their friends in crime, was held ot
Pikeville in August, 1889, Judge John
M. Rice presiding. Mounts was
sentenced to die by hanging, It
was said that the highly emotional
testimony of Sarah WMceCoy had a

| devastating effect on Mount’s de-

fense. In the meantime, Sheriff W.
H. Maynard assembled three
“hacks.” surrounded them with 25
mounted guards and started for
Lexington with all of the convicted
prisoners except Mounts. Maynard
was not taking any chances that
a foray led by Hatfields would re-
lease their kinsmen.

Mavinard got to Prestonsburg
late in the cvening. The day had
pecn rouch. rain had fallen in tor-
rential sheets and the mud-spat-
tered puards welcomed an opporiun-
ity to stop and rest, They dismount-
ed and a crowd of the curious
assembicd. Some one took Mawnard
aside, told him that he had henrd
Csp Hatficld was in Knox county
trying to raise a pang to take his
priseners before he got to Richard-
son, tie tatlway terminal, Maynard
fuas tly put his caravan back on the
road. Fronk Puillips accompanied ]
the group to Richardson, but re-
It,urrmd to Pikeville from there.
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